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ALICE M. BATCHELDER, Circuit Judge. Defendant Charles Gahan appeals the
district court’s sentencing decision as pragafly and substantively unreasonable. For the
following reasons, we AFFIRM the digtt court’s sentencing decision.

l.

In 2002, Charles Gahan co-owned and deeraa real estate development company
called GBW Development. From late 20022006, Gahan conspiredittv Scott Hoeft, an
independent title insurance and closing ageetrating under the name of Prime Title Services,
LLC. As stipulated in Gahan’s plea agreeméahan and Hoeft diverted proceeds from real
estate closings to Gahan’'s mess and personal bank accounts instead of to the financial
institutions and private lendergho should have received the peeds to retirdheir existing

liens. As a result of this keme, Old Republic National Titledarance and First American Title
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Insurance, two companies on behalf of whicheflovas authorized to issue title insurance
policies, were forced to defend the innocent paseins and pay off their isking liens to ensure
that the purchasers had clealetito their homes. By the time the scheme was uncovered, Old
Republic and First American suffered a total loss of approximately $8,691,834.90

On February 12, 2015, Gahan wasdicted in the U.S. Disict Court for the Western
District of Michigan on a singleount of conspiracy to commitire fraud affecting financial
institutions, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1348d 18 U.S.C. § 1349. Gahan pleaded guilty
pursuant to a plea agreement. The Presentemestigation Report (“PSR”) assigned Gahan a
total offense level of 28 and a criminal historategory of I. The PSR indicated that the
resulting guideline sentencing range was 78®7Tomonths and recommended a sentence of 78
months. But, in anticipation of the fbdoming November 1, 2015, amendments to the
guidelines, the PSR noted that Gahan’'s toféénse level would be lowered to 26, with a
guideline range of 63 to 78 months.

At Gahan’s sentencing hearingettistrict court noted that due to the amendments to the
sentencing guidelines, Gahan wasited to the two-level reduction in his total offense level.
The district court also acknowledged the newesponding guideline rangd 63 to 78 months.
Neither party objected to the PSR or the caloniteticontained therein, and the court ultimately
sentenced Gahan to a within-guidelines sargeof 70 months’ imprisonment. This appeal
followed.

I.

We generally review a distti court’s sentence under thefelential abuse-of-discretion

standard.Gall v. United Statess52 U.S. 38, 51 (2007)nited States v. Lannin@33 F.3d 469,

473 (6th Cir. 2011). Substantiveasonableness claims, which always reviewed for an abuse
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of discretion, need not be rats before the district courto be preserved for appeal.
United States v. Penspb26 F.3d 331, 337 (6th Cir. 2008). “Biita sentencing judge asks . . .
whether there are any objectiong peeviously raised, in compliae with the procedural rule set
forth in United States v. Bosti@71 F.3d 865 (2004)[,] and if thelegant party does not object,
then plain-error review appliesn appeal to thosgirocedural-reasonableness arguments that
were not preserved the district court.” Lanning 633 F.3d at 473 (quotingenson 526 F.3d at
337) (alterations in original). Because Gahannditlobject at his sentencing hearing, plain-error
review applies to his proderal-reasonableness arguments.

Gahan argues that his sentem@s both procedurally andlsstantively unreasonable due
to the trial court’s alleged failut® recognize that the sentemgiguidelines are advisory and the
district court's alleged subsequent failure poovide an individualized assessment of the
18 U.S.C. 8§ 3553(a) sentencing factors.

A.

“Procedural reasonableness requires thats#ricti court must properly calculate the
guidelines range, treat the guidelnas advisory, consider tBe3553(a) factors and adequately
explain the chosen sentence—including an amgion for any variare from the guidelines
range.” United States v. Presleyp47 F.3d 625, 629 (6th Cir. 200&itation and internal
guotation marks omitted). Gahan’s primary contention on appeal is that the district court treated
the guidelines as mandatory. His only support ftbemrecord is an exchange between Ronald

Stella, the government’s attorney, and thardit court during the sentencing hearing:

! Despite his failure to object at sentencing, Gahanearginat we should review his procedural-reasonableness
argument for an abuse of discretion eatlthan for plain error. He arguéisat because at least one party, the
government, raised a procedural issue.(sentence disparity between co-defendants), we should review his
sentence for an abuse of discretion.isTd¢ourt’'s precedent is clear, howevitris the “relevant party” that must
object in order for the abuse-of-discretion standard to apply to claims of procedural unressmsdbhited States

v. Penson526 F.3d 331, 337 (6th Cir. 2008) (citiktpited States v. Vonnebl16 F.3d 382, 385 (6th Cir. 2008)
(en banc)). Because the government is not they pa@ppealing the sentence, weview his procedural-
reasonableness claim for plain error.

-3-
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MR. STELLA: One thing | did want to cover just very briefly. An issue of
sentencing disparity was raised in the defense’s filing. It wasn’t brought up here
today, but | wanted the Court to understand what did happen with the co-defendant,
Mr. Hoeft.

Ironically, they [Hoeft and Gahan] ended up at the same exact point under the
guidelines, Your Honor. Mr. Hoeft was sentenced under the old guidelines and he
ended up at an offense level of 31 just like Mr. Gahan would have before acceptance
of responsibility which made him a 28, and then he received a two-level 5K for his
cooperation before he was sentenced. So he ended up at a 26 and he had the same
guideline range that Mr. Gahan ends up at today of 63 to 78 months.

He subsequently received a Rule 35 because he came back to our office after
sentencing and helped us prepare the case against Mr. Gahan and testified in grand
jury. So he ultimately ended up at 45 months, but | just wanted the Court to be aware
that in terms of the guidelines, they do not end up at exactly the same guideline range.

THE COURT: Except that the government by virtue of the guidelines gets to
manipulate the process, don’t they?

MR. STELLA: We don’'t manipulate, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Well, you run the guidelines up. You ask me for 5K1s.

MR. STELLA: Well, that’'s not a manipulation of the guidelines with all due respect,
Your Honor. That is rewarding someone who has recognized a responsibility and is
willing to stand up and help us convict another person.

THE COURT: Itis. Itis. It is.
MR. STELLA: Yes, itis.

THE COURT: But in fact it drives the ufhiate sentence because we all know what
happens.

MR. STELLA: That's the Court’s choice under 3553. They’re nonbinding guidelines,
Your Honor.

THE COURT:No, it's not.
MR. STELLA: I don’t want to argue with the Court, but—

THE COURT: Well, | respectfully disagree with youAll you have to do is start
looking at some of these Court of Appeals decisions that are coming down. They're
coming down very strictly on guidelines and very strictly on whether or not courts
grant government’s motions, and the judge better grant the motiothanddge
better stay somewhere near the guidelinss’t that the message that we’re getting
now?
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This interchange, by itself, doest demonstrate that the district court believed the guidelines
are mandatory.See, e.g.United States v. Highgaté21 F.3d 590, 596 (6th Cir. 2008) (reversing a
within-guidelines sentence that the district cououtjht was inconsistent with “justice, morality, and
all of the other considerations under 3553,” but which it nevertheless felt obliged to impose under the
guidelines);United States v. Martinovi¢t810 F.3d 232, 243-44 (4th Cir. 2016) (reversing a district
court that expressly, and repeatedly, stated the guidelines were “not discretionary” but “mandatory”).
If anything, the district court’s comments in this case indicate its belief that this court too frequently
reverses sentences which deviate from the guidelines. We can therefore find no plain procedural
error in Gahan’s sentence.

B.

When reviewing a district court’s sentence, this court must determine “whether the length of
the sentence is greater than necessary to achieve the sentencing goals set forth in 18 U.S.C.
8 3553(a).” United States v. Tristan-Madrigab01 F.3d 629, 632-33 (6th Cir. 2010) (internal
guotation marks omitted). “A sentence is substantivelreasonable if the district court selects the
sentence arbitrarily, bases the sentence on impebteidaictors, fails to consider 8 3553(a) factors
or gives an unreasonable amount of weight to any pertinent fadir.(quoting United States v.
Walls 546 F.3d 728, 736 (6th Cir. 2008)). Because Gahan’s sentence fell within the guidelines
range, we presume that his sentence is substantively reasoBableanning633 F.3d at 473.

Notwithstanding this presumption, Gahan argues that the district court erred by not
addressing the § 3553(a) factors—specifically factor (6), sentence disparities among defendants with
similar records who have been found guilty of similar conduct. Gahan primarilyUeitesl States
v. Wallace 597 F.3d 794 (6th Cir. 2010), in which this court vacated a sentence and remanded for

resentencing because the district court did nfitceently address 8§ 3553(a)(6) after the defendant
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had raised the issde.ld. at 805-06. In the present case, Gahan raised a § 3553(a)(6) sentence
disparity argument in his sentencing memorandum. However, despite the fact that the government
began to rebut this argument at the sentencing hearing, Gahan failed to discuss the issue further—
effectively resting on his memorandum. He also neglected to respond to the government's
contention that both Gahan and Hoeft were initially sentenced using the same guidelines range.
Thus, it is uncertain whether the sentencing disparity issue was clearly presented and in dispute at
sentencing. See United States v. SimmoB87 F.3d 348, 361 (6th Cir. 2009) (“[A]s a procedural
matter, the district judge must generally speak to arguments that are clearly presented and in
dispute.”).

Furthermore, when presented with a response to Gahan’s sentence disparity argument by the
government at the sentencing hearing, the distgetrt interrupted to assert that “it makes no
difference in this case because of all the previous motions that [the government] had of cooperation
versus this individual [Gahan] who comes in late. Really makes no difference to me.” We interpret
this statement to mean that the district court found Gahan’s § 3553(a)(6) sentence disparity argument
irrelevant as a result of the previous motions related to Hoeft's cooperation in the subsequent
prosecution of Gahan. This interpretation of the transcript is strengthened by the fact that, at the time
of each co-defendant’s sentencing, the dispaetyveen Hoeft's sentence and Gahan'’s sentence was
only seven month. This disparity is markedly different from the disparityitallace in which the
defendant received more than twice the sentence despite being the “less-involved” party in the
commission of the crimeWallace 597 F.3d at 803, 805. Altogether, and unliellace in which

“no part of the record ma[de] clear that therniisjudge even understood Defendant’s argumedt,”

2 Although this court stated idnited States v. Wallac&97 F.3d 794 (6th Cir. 2010), that “[a] district judge is not
required to consider the disparity been the sentences of co-defendants,” Hevl a defendant raises a particular],
non-frivolous] argument in seeking aner sentence, the record must reflechhthiat the district judge considered
the defendant’s argument aticht the judge explained the basis for rejecting\Wallace 597 F.3d at 803 (citations
omitted).

3 After being initially sentenced to 63 months of incaatien, Hoeft was granted a discretionary Rule 35 sentence
reduction for providing substantial assistance in the prosecution of G&kaRed. R. Crim. P. 35(b).

-6-
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at 806, the record in this case sufficiently illustrates that the district court understood and rejected
Gahan’s § 3553(a)(6) sentence disparity argument.

Gahan also makes much of the requirement that district courts state their reasoning for the
sentence imposedSee Rita v. United Stategsb1 U.S. 338 (2007). In addition to our prior holding
that “[t]here is no requirement that the distrioudt . . . engage in a ritualistic incantation of the
8§ 3553(a) factors it considersPnited States v. Chandled19 F.3d 484, 488 (6th Cir. 2005)
(citations and internal quotation marks omitted), the record in this case contains sufficient evidence
for us to find that the district court did not abuse its discretion here. The only requirement is that “the
district court’s sentence should nonetheless reflect the considerations outlined in § 35&8(a).”
(citation omitted). Although the district court dmbt explicitly mention the § 3553(a) factors, we
believe the sentencing transcript sufficiently demonstrates the court’s having considered the history
and characteristics of the defendant, the need for the sentence imposed, the kinds of sentence and the
sentencing range established, and the need to provide restitution to any victims of the offense. Given
this evidence, we cannot say that the district court abused its discretion in imposing Gahan’'s
sentence.

1.
Upon review of the record, we find that Gahan’'s sentence is neither procedurally nor

substantively unreasonable. We AFFIRM his sentence.
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CLAY, Circuit Judge, concurring. | agree with my colleagues that Defendant’s
sentence must be affirmed, and | concur fullythe Court’s opinion. | write separately to
highlight several remarks made by the distrimtirt at Defendant’s sentencing hearing that may
have created confusion, and exiplhow those remarks unnecessaciynplicated our review in
this appeal.

At the sentencing hearing, counsel fthre government attempted to respond to
Defendant’s argument that he should receive a damhweparture so that there would not be an
unwarranted disparitipetween his sentence and the sentesmaived by his co-defendant. After
the prosecutor finished speaking, the distrimtirt accused the government of manipulating the

calculation of Defendant’s sentencing guidelines range,rigddithe following exchange:

MR. STELLA: We don’t manipulate, Your Honor.
THE COURT: Well, you run the guitiees up. You ask me for 5K1s.
MR. STELLA: Well, that's not a mapulation of the guidelines with all

due respect, Your Honor. @his rewarding someone who
has recognized a responsibility and is willing to stand up
and help us convict another person.

THE COURT: Itis.Itis. Itis.

MR. STELLA: Yes, itis.

THE COURT: But in fact it drives the ultimate sentemszause we all
know what happens.

MR. STELLA: That's the Court's€hoice under 3553. They’re nonbinding
guidelines, Your Honor.

THE COURT: No, it's [sic] not.

MR. STELLA: | don’t want to argue with the Court, but—

THE COURT: Well, | respectfully disagree with you. All you have to

do is start looking at someof these Court of Appeals
decisions that are coming dan. They're coming down
very strictly on guidelinesand very strictly on whether
or not courts grant government's motions, and the
judge better grant the motionand the judge better stay
somewhere near the guidelines Isn’t that the message
that we’re getting now?

(R. 45, Sentencing Tr., at 23-26 (emphasis added).)
-8-
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Defendant argues that this exchange showasttie district court treated the sentencing
guidelines asle factomandatory in violation oUnited States v. Bookeb43 U.S. 220 (2005)
and its progeny. However, viewing the transcript in its entiretgrée with the majority that the
district court was likely just indi¢ag “its belief that this court too frequently reverses sentences
which deviate from the guidelines.” Maj. Op.5at The district courthoroughly considered the
nature and circumstances of Defendant’s criagewell as his history and characteristics, and
nothing in the transcript clearly demonstrates thatdilstrict court failed to appreciate the extent
of its sentencing discretion.

Nevertheless, some of the district d®icomments create an unnecessary distraction,
and muddy the transcript for ap@d# review. As amppellate court confed to reviewing a
cold transcript, it is often difficult for us tostiern whether a district court is speaking tongue-in-
cheek, or has legitimately misapplied the law when it makes comments suggesting that the
guidelines arede facto mandatory. Federal appellat®ucts have vacated sentences for
comments not considerably different than thottered by the districtourt here, despite the
remote likelihood that any district judge still believes that the guidelindgeradly mandatory
twelve years afteBooker See, e.g.United States v. Highgat&21 F.3d 590, 596 (6th Cir.
2008);United States v. Martinovi¢i810 F.3d 232, 243-44 (4th Cir. 2016).

The district court may well havaeen correct that this Cdus often too willing to find
an abuse of discretion when reviewing fedesahtences. However, district courts must
remember thaBookeris still binding law, and no decision decisions of this Gurt have held or
implied that district courts must necessarily “staynewhere near the guidelines.” It is better for
all concerned if district courtstick to considering the 8§ 35%3(factors and other relevant
indicia in conducting sentencingeérings, and resist the temptaito editorialize about the

perceived implications of thisdDrt's sentencing case law.



